FISEVIER

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Consciousness and Cognition

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/concog



How similar are the changes in neural activity resulting from mindfulness practice in contrast to spiritual practice?



Joseph M. Barnby a,*, Neil W. Bailey a,1, Richard Chambers b,2, Paul B. Fitzgerald a,1

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 21 April 2015 Revised 24 June 2015 Accepted 6 July 2015

Keywords:

Neuroscience of mindfulness Neuroscience of spirituality Self Other Fronto-parietal network Prefrontal cortex Inferior parietal lobule Alpha inhibition Quantitative neuroimaging Spiritual practice

ABSTRACT

Meditation and spiritual practices are conceptually similar, eliciting similar subjective experiences, and both appear to provide similar benefits to the practicing individuals. However, no research has examined whether the mechanism of action leading to the beneficial effects is similar in both practices. This review examines the neuroimaging research that has focused on groups of meditating individuals, groups who engage in religious/spiritual practices, and research that has examined groups who perform both practices together, in an attempt to assess whether this may be the case. Differences in the balance of activity between the parietal and prefrontal cortical activation were found between the three groups. A relative prefrontal increase was reflective of mindfulness, which related to decreased anxiety and improved well-being. A relative decrease in activation of the parietal cortex, specifically the inferior parietal cortex, appears to be reflective of spiritual belief, whether within the context of meditation or not. Because mindful and spiritual practices differ in focus regarding the 'self' or 'other' (higher being), these observations about neurological components that reflect spirituality may continue work towards understanding how the definition of 'self' and 'other' is represented in the brain, and how this may be reflected in behaviour. Future research can begin to use cohorts of participants in mindfulness studies which are controlled for using the variable of spirituality to explicitly examine how functional and structural similarities and differences may arise.

© 2015 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	220
2.	Methodology	221
	2.1. Scope of the current review	221
	2.2. Methods	
3.	The neurophenomenological effects of spiritual/religious practice	221
	3.1. Functional neurological changes resulting from R/S	
	3.2. Structural neurological changes resulting from R/S	222

^a MAPrc – Alfred Hospital (Monash University), Australia

^b Monash University, Australia

^{*} Corresponding author at: Monash Alfred Psychiatry Research Centre, Level 4, 607 St Kilda Road, Prahan, Melbourne 3004, Australia. E-mail addresses: Mrjmb70@gmail.com (J.M. Barnby), neilbailey@gmail.com (N.W. Bailey), Richard.chambers@monash.edu (R. Chambers), Paul. fitzgerald@monash.edu (P.B. Fitzgerald).

¹ Address: Monash Alfred Psychiatry Research Centre, Level 4, 607 St Kilda Road, Prahan, Melbourne 3004, Australia.

² Address: Monash University, Building 10, Clayton Campus, Melbourne, Australia.

	l. The neurophenomenological effects of mindfulness meditation						
	4.1. fMRI, MRI, and Single Photon Emission Computed Tomography (SPECT)	224					
	4.2. EEG	224					
	4.3. Self-referential processing within mindfulness	225					
5.	Comparison between spiritual practice and mindfulness meditation	226					
6.	Discussion	228					
7.	Conclusions	229					
	References	229					

1. Introduction

Individuals who practice religiously and/or spiritually (R/S), and also those who practice mindfulness meditation, report a greater sense of compassion, wellbeing, feeling of wholeness, decreased anxiety, and faster recovery from mental illness (Cohen, Jimenez, & Mittal, 2010; Giovagnoli, da Silva, Federico, & Cornelio, 2009; Ivanovski & Malhi, 2007; Sasaki, Kim, & Xu, 2011; Shapiro & Walsh, 2003). Research has suggested that the processes trained by mindfulness meditation involve attention regulation, body awareness, emotional regulation (reappraisal, exposure, extinction, and reconsolidating), and perspective of the self (Hölzel et al., 2011a, 2011b). In this review, mindfulness meditation will be defined as 'an expansion of attention in a non-judgemental and nonreactive manner, in order to become more aware of one's current sensory, mental and emotional experience' (Ivanovski & Malhi, 2007). In contrast to mindfulness meditation, spiritual practice can be broadly defined as focusing on an internal and external sense of connection to a higher entity, or embodiment, such as Mother Nature. Almost every culture contains traditions of spiritual practice in one form or another. As spiritual practice is so widespread in human culture, everyone has a common understanding of the phenomenon, regardless of whether they practice R/S or not. However for the purposes of this paper; we will define spiritual practice as focusing on spiritual transcendence and connection with a higher entity(s), with methods such as prayer or spiritual meditation.

An aim of both mindfulness practice and spiritual practice is the enhancement of the subjective experience of the mind by focusing on positive emotion, which can result in an increased sense of social support, purpose in life, and a decrease in illness symptoms (Fredrickson, Cohn, Coffey, Pek, & Finkel, 2008). Evidence has also shown that spiritual practice directly improves emotional experience through an increased sense of meaning and hope, and alleviating feelings of fear and lone-liness (Clark, Drain, & Malone, 2003). Similarly, mindfulness practice has shown to lead to a receptive and attentive attitude to self-attribution of emotion, increased coping strategies and greater wellbeing, as well as instilling compassion for the self and empathy for others (Weinstein, Brown, & Ryan, 2009). Both mindfulness and spiritual practice often approach enhancing the subjective experience of the mind in a similar manner, such as focusing on present moment experiences (e.g. through prayer or meditation), seeking transcendence (the process of developing higher consciousness), and fostering acceptance and monitoring of emotional responses. Further, research has demonstrated, through structural equation modelling, that daily spiritual practice enhances the practice of mindfulness towards psychological health benefits (Greeson et al., 2011).

Since both mindfulness meditation and spiritual practice display similar outcomes, both employ comparable methods, and have been shown through self-report measures to have a relationship (Greeson et al., 2011), we feel it is valuable to analyse what the similarities and differences are in terms of neural activation patterns and changes to neural structure resulting from each type of practice. Answering this question could further inform our understanding into the role that spirituality plays in illness recovery, and how much the attributes of R/S may contribute to the positive effects of mindfulness practice. It may also inform future research to what degree R/S may confound results that use mindfulness participants from different belief frameworks. If the role of R/S in mindfulness meditation is a beneficial variable, this information may further inform clinical research and practice.

Meditation is broadly used to describe attention training practices that observe and regulate the mind and the body (Cahn & Polich, 2006). These practices are often divided into concentrative practices, such as Transcendental Meditation (TM) and 'open-monitoring' or mindfulness practices. Concentrative meditation often involves a single point of focus, and often considered a more 'zoom-lens' attentional mechanism, often concentrated on a single point in the body (Valentine & Sweet, 1999) or a mantra, in the case of TM. Mindfulness meditation on the other hand has been used in recent years in medicine and healthcare to describe the practice of attentional focal non-reactivity to inner experiences, and often viewed as a 'broader spectrum' meditation, which encourages the free flow of any thought that may pass through consciousness, with no specific extra attention paid to any particular thought (Sayadaw, 1972). There are a range of traditional meditation practices and traditions that emphasise mindfulness, such as Zen and Vipassana (insight) meditation, and these are based upon traditional practices, such as used in Buddhist culture. There are also a number of modern psychological therapies that include mindfulness as a central component, including mindfulness based stress reduction (MBSR), mindfulness-integrated cognitive behaviour therapy (MiCBT), acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) and mindfulness based cognitive therapy (MBCT) (Ivanovski & Malhi, 2007). These therapies have proven effective in treating generalised

anxiety disorder, obsessive compulsive disorder, substance abused, psychosis, relationship conflict, as well as preventing relapse of major depressive disorder (Williams, Teasdale, Segal, & Soulsby, 2000).

For the purposes of this review, the most important difference between spiritual practice and secular mindfulness meditation, is that spiritual practice involves focusing on the connection to, and presence of, a higher being or embodiment; God or otherwise (Coakley, 2013). In contrast, secular mindfulness practice is primarily an external and internal attentional strategy, and although the traditional practices can produce transcendental experiences and the feeling of unity with a higher being, secular and modern mindfulness practices do not necessarily emphasise this aspect (Johnstone, Bodling, Cohen, Christ, & Wegrzyn 2012; Newberg & d'Aquila, 1998). Mindfulness has been used in healthcare and medical practice in a decontextualized setting, which emphasises its attentional and cognitive benefits rather than aspects of spiritual practice (Berkovich-Ohana, Dor-Ziderman, Glicksohn, & Goldstein, 2013). As such, the connection to a higher being (or lack of) is the variable that contrasts between the two groups.

Both mindfulness and spiritual practices have been researched with neuroscientific techniques individually. However, only three direct comparisons of both of R/S and mindfulness practice have been conducted, and none of these have examined the constructs from a neurological perspective (Carmody, Reed, Kristeller, & Merriam, 2008; Leigh, Bowen, & Marlatt, 2005; Ying, 2009). Additionally, the interpretation of mindfulness studies is potentially confounded by the fact that mindfulness research often involves cohorts of participants who adhere to a spiritual framework. In order to counteract this potential confound, this review examined studies involving modern clinical and secular versions of mindfulness separately, and comparisons were made across the three different types of groups (R/S, mindfulness practice with a spiritual framework, and mindfulness practice with a secular framework). Using this approach, focus on the neurological underpinnings of the subjective outcomes of both practices enable us to determine the functional similarities and differences in brain changes between individuals who practice mindfulness and individuals who practice religiously or spiritually.

2. Methodology

2.1. Scope of the current review

The purpose of this article is to review research that examines the neurological underpinnings of meditation and R/S practice, and the similarities and differences between the two. It will aim to answer questions about why meditational practice and R/S practice share some similar subjective experiences and potential benefits, and which cortical areas overlap in secular and spiritual meditation, and R/S practice. It will also aim to provide improved understanding to clinical western mindfulness practice into how spirituality may play a neurological variable in mindfulness practice. This review will focus on fMRI, MRI, PET, and EEG techniques, specifically examining the different groupings of secular and spiritual meditation and R/S practice. Previous reviews have examined the neurological changes resulting from mindfulness meditation, but without directly examining spirituality as a variable (Ivanovski & Malhi, 2007; Cahn & Polich, 2006; Hölzel et al., 2011a, 2011b). Spirituality and meditation share similar subjective experiences, and further, neurological meditation research may be potentially confounded by whether participants adhere to a spiritual framework or not. This review will therefore attempt to tease apart three groups within the context of neurophysiological research: spiritual meditators, secular meditators, and individuals who do not meditate but practice spiritually.

2.2. Methods

To be able to fully review the literature on meditation and R/S neurological change, both Google Scholar and PubMed databases were searched. The terms related to neural changes of mindfulness practice were 'cortical changes mindfulness', 'MBCT', 'EEG mindfulness', imechanisms of mindfulness', and 'fMRI mindfulness', and search terms related to the neural change of R/S belief were 'subjective spiritual belief', 'EEG spiritual belief', 'mechanisms of spiritual belief', and 'fMRI spirituality'. The Google Scholar search returned 1660 articles, while the PubMed search returned 928 articles. Due to the volume of research, only the most phrase-relevant were used. This was determined by excluding any articles which did not directly address functional or neuro-imaging findings from mindfulness studies. Articles that were cited in previous reviews and studies of meditation and R/S belief were also reviewed to ensure any relevant articles overlooked by the database search were still included. Research that focused on qualitative data without cortical analyses was excluded, so that the focus on the review was specifically on cortical changes associated with each group. Non-English articles were excluded. This produced a total of 96 articles examining cortical change within meditation and R/S practice.

3. The neurophenomenological effects of spiritual/religious practice

The links between spiritual practice and positive outcomes have been a focal point of philosophy and literature for millennia, from Hippocrates to Dostoyevsky (Devinsky, 2003). Similarly, early 20th century psychologists, such as Freud and Jung had their own interpretations as to how religion and spirituality play a role into our psyche (Jung, 1966; Palmer, 2003; Tacey, 1997). However, it is only recently that neurophysiological research into spiritual practice has been seen as a valid academic pursuit (McNamara, Sosis, & Wildman, 2011). This research has examined the anecdotal claims that those

who are religious or spiritual in clinical populations often develop better coping strategies, leading to a reduction of symptoms (Cohen et al., 2010; Bormann, Liu, Thorp, & Lang, 2012). This happens via biological factors such as decreased cortisol levels (Creswell et al., 2005), higher parasympathetic activity and improved immune response (Seeman, Dubin & Seeman; 2003). Similarly, spiritual practice has been shown to provide a path that can lead to a healthier framework for life (Seybold, 2007; Greeson et al., 2011). For example religious practices have been demonstrated to increase cognitive performance, regardless of the faith orientation of the individual (McCullough & Willoughby, 2009). Spiritual practices have also been shown to provide increased capacity for self-control, resulting in spiritual individuals being better able to limit their use of tobacco (McCullough & Willoughby, 2009).

3.1. Functional neurological changes resulting from R/S

More recently, brain imaging techniques have been able to elucidate the neural changes that take place as a result of R/S practice, and how R/S practices may lead, in some domains, to an increase in healthy lifestyle behaviours. Electroencephalogram (EEG) has been fruitful in highlighting the differences in brain rhythms between non-spiritual and R/S populations. Tenke et al. (2013) found that populations who held R/S beliefs over a 10-year period demonstrated increased medial posterior alpha power (both low and high sub-bands) and higher resting alpha power at a single time point. Increases in the alpha rhythm have been shown to indicate a decrease or suppression in cortical activity (Goldman, Stern, Engel, & Cohen, 2002) and the function of increased alpha has been suggested to be improved neural efficiency through the inhibition of brain regions not required for a task (Bazanova & Vernon, 2014). Increased alpha power in R/S populations was found to correlate with a decreased risk of developing major depression in individuals who had immediate family member with the disorder (a known risk factor developing depression) (Miller et al., 2014). The decreased risk of developing major depressive disorder was correlated with how important R/S was to the individual (measured via self-reports), with a stronger correlation with amount of actual daily practice focused on spirituality and transcendence, rather than with practices like church attendance (Kelley & Miller, 2007).

3.2. Structural neurological changes resulting from R/S

In addition to the studies of neural activity with EEG, structural changes have been found with MRI. Miller et al. (2014) used a longitudinal design using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) to examine brain volumes of 103 adults who were at high or low risk for developing depression, and found self-attributed importance of religiousness or spirituality (regardless of the denomination of worship) to be associated with an increased grey matter in the left and right parietal regions of the cortex, as well as thickening in the occipital region, right mescal frontal, and left cuneus and precuneus regions. This neurophysiological change was correlated strongly with the high-risk group, with thicker cortical regions demonstrating a buffer for the development of depressive symptoms. In general, the research using EEG and MRI appears to indicate adaptive inhibition and strengthening of the parietal cortex in R/S groups. This may reflect increased parietal functioning and indicate that the parietal lobe plays a role in the belief of R/S, or that R/S subjective belief affects parietal neuroplasticity to alter selective brain function and inhibition.

In addition to the EEG and MRI research, functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) research examining R/S has identified a partial right hemisphere bias in brain areas responsible for increased religiosity (McNamara & Butler, 2013). The authors found that activity in the right temporal lobe, right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, dorsomedial, orbitofrontal, limbic system, and basal ganglia are all crucial nodes in the neural orchestration of religiosity. Research has also supported the idea that spiritual transcendence, decreased narcissism and perceived connection to a higher being is associated with increased frontal lobe activity and decreased right parietal lobe activity (Johnstone et al., 2012).

Other research has similarly implicated the role of the parietal lobe in experiences of spiritual transcendence, with gliomal and meningiomal damage to the parietal area causing individuals to express an increased feeling of spiritual transcendence (Urgesi, Aglioti, Skrap, & Fabbro, 2010). This was found in contrast to anterior lesions, which decreased the experience of spiritual transcendence in individuals. These results can either be interpreted to demonstrate an isolated importance of the parietal lobe or frontal lobe, or the importance of the fronto-parietal network in the experience of R/S, perhaps with an increased ratio of frontal to parietal function leading to increased R/S experience. Evidence seems to support that the balance of inhibited parietal activity and amplified prefrontal activity may lead to the strengthening of R/S experience.

McNamara and Butler (2013) concluded that this decrease in the activity of the fronto-parietal network, along with increases in the activity of the fronto-temporal network, is the basis of heightened religious and self-transcendental experiences. The evidence suggests a right bias in fronto-temporal damage leads to decreased R/S experience, which can match with research showing bilateral posterior ablation increased R/S experience, as they are connected but explicitly different regions. Research in the future would profit from examining the effect of left and right posterior lesions on R/S separately to determine whether both hemispheres contribute to R/S equally, or whether one hemisphere is more responsible for R/S experience.

Clues to answering this question may be found in research using anaesthetic disruption to each parietal lobe independently. This research has compared the effect of disruptions to each hemisphere separately on performance in the 'self-other task', which involved patients being anaesthetised either in the left or right hemisphere while being asked to remember a face on screen which was an amalgamation of the patients face with that of a famous individuals face. The

forced choice between a picture of the patient's own face, and that of a celebrity face, was then required. When the left hemisphere was anaesthetised, all participants chose their own face in the task, however when the right hemisphere was disrupted, nearly all participants selected the famous individuals face as the one they had seen (Keenan, Nelson, O'Connor, & Pascual-Leone, 2001). The authors suggest that this indicates the right hemisphere is responsible for self-awareness and higher consciousness.

The identification of the 'Self' and 'Other' has been further examined with regards to the role of the parietal lobe (along with the prefrontal cortex and insula) through electrophysiological and neuroimaging research in monkeys and humans (Blakemore & Frith, 2003; Jackson & Decety, 2004; Rizzolatti & Craighero, 2004). Research involving disruption of these areas by anaesthetic, lesion and transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) has been found to lead to disorders of the self, and difficulties in identifying with the self and others (Brozgold et al., 1998; Feinberg & Keenan, 2005; Mesulam, 2000). Alterations in feelings of being connected to a higher power, or belonging to something larger than oneself, are essentially alterations to the sense of self and other. Therefore, taken together, the association between decreased parietal lobe activity and R/S experience, and the disruption of this area leading to decreased performance in identifying self and other suggests that this area is crucial in the ability to take another's perspective and forming an experience of higher unity. As such, we might expect that these changes are specific to individuals who perform spiritual practices, and will not be found in individuals who practice secular mindfulness, and do not focus on a connection with a higher entity, but with a focus on overcoming attachment to the self without spiritual connotation.

A study by Azari et al. (2001) further highlights the changes to the frontal cortex and parietal cortex in R/S individuals. Their research used positron emission tomography (PET) scans to examine neural activity during the reading of a psalm in religious individuals. They found the fronto-parietal circuits of these individuals were shown to display significantly more blood flow when compared to two non-religious activities (the reading of a German children's nursery rhyme and numbers from the Dusseldorf phone book). While an increase in activity in the fronto-parietal circuit may appear to contradict the research conducted with fMRI and EEG, increased cerebral blood flow has been shown to be related to a decrease in alpha magnitude. Indeed, when participants were tested simultaneously with EEG and PET mapping during rest and simple motor tasks (Cook, O'Hara, Uijtdehaage, Mandelkern, & Leuchter, 1998), this relationship was observed. This alpha change has been discussed above as indicating a change in cortical activity (Goldman et al., 2002) via the desynchronisation of the region (Kirschfeld, 2005). Cook et al. (1998) notes that this finding is in line with cerebral perfusion alone. Further research needs to be conducted to definitely define the neurophysiological importance of this. Bazanova and Vernon (2014) however suggest that the data pertaining to the link between cerebral perfusion and cortical activity is too ambiguous and varied to be able to make conclusions at this point in time. This suggests that Azari et al's (2001) results could reflect increased fronto-parietal activity, or at the least change and adaptation of the fronto-parietal circuit during spiritual practice (Kirschfeld, 2005).

It could be suggested from the above research that the posterior lobe therefore is the seat of self-identification, inside the paradigm of 'self' and 'other'. When there is a decrease or loss of posterior function (through a lesion or anaesthetic), the prefrontal lobe may be unable to maintain the processes that give rise to the notion of an inclusive 'self', leading to an increase in the perception of an external agent. The literature seems to suggest a right hemisphere bias to the self-other effects of the posterior lobe. This hypothesis does not necessarily posit presence of a strengthened prefrontal lobe, but merely that the balance of function in the fronto-parietal network is crucial to weakening or strengthening the belief of a higher being.

In conclusion, neurological research into the area of spirituality is relatively sparse (see Table 1). However, spiritual practice and experience seem to be consistently related to a decrease in parietal lobe activity and an increase in frontal lobe activity, and a definite relationship between fronto-parietal communications when an individual has experiences of R/S. The main observations of these studies are that in individuals who partake in more R/S practice and experience, increases in parietal and frontal lobe thickness occur, prefrontal relative function is increased, as well as increased alpha activity over parietal regions. During spiritual practice, blood flow and metabolism increases are found in the fronto-parietal network and decreased cortical activation is found in the parietal region. While results show significant changes, the methods of assessing activity used in each study vary. Further research is therefore required.

4. The neurophenomenological effects of mindfulness meditation

Following the work of Kabat-Zinn and Burney (1981), Kabat-Zinn (1982), the practice of mindfulness meditation has been incorporated widely into clinical practice as a viable, effective, non-pharmacological and non-invasive method to decrease psychological symptoms of anxiety and depression, PTSD, bipolar disorder, relationship distress, psychosis, and alcoholism (Brown & Ryan, 2003; Hofmann et al., 2010; Lang, 2013; Marlatt et al., 2004; Smith et al., 2011; Baer, 2003). Additionally, mindfulness meditation has been shown to increase cognitive attention, working memory, and executive function (Jha, Krompinger, & Baime, 2007; Weick & Sutcliffe, 2006), and improve physiological health by decreasing blood pressure and increasing parasympathetic innervation (Seeman, Dubin, & Seeman, 2003). Perhaps unsurprisingly given the cognitive and mental health benefits associated with mindfulness, EEG, even-related potential (ERP), PET, MRI and fMRI technologies have uncovered a number of short and long term mechanistic neural changes that result from mindfulness meditation (Aftanas & Golocheikine, 2003; Lutz, Greischar, Rawlings, Ricard, & Davidson, 2004). Research efforts are now being made

Table 1Summary of neural changes as a result of R/S practice.

Author	Neurological method	Participants background	Participant no.	Main findings
Tenke et al. (2013)	EEG (13 Electrodes)	Important vs. Not important spirituality	52	Increased resting alpha levels over P7, P3, P4 and P8 regions in individuals who considered spirituality as 'highly important'
Miller et al. (2014)	MRI	High or low risk for depression concomitant with importance of R/S	103	Increased parietal cortical thickness in high R/S individuals. Especially those at high risk for depression
Johnstone et al. (2012)	fMRI	Neurologically impaired outpatients measured for spiritual belief and daily experience of transcendence	20	Decrease in right parietal lobe activity and increase in frontal lobe activity in R/S individuals during neuropsychological assessment. This scaled with level of R/S belief measured via self-report measures
Azari et al. (2001)	PET scan	6 Religious and 6 non-religious individuals	12	Increased prefrontal function and increased mid- parietal function in religious individuals when Psalm was read.
Urgesi et al. (2010)	MRI, Lesion study	24 patients with high-grade gliomas, 24 with low grade gliomas, 20 with recurrent gliomas, 20 with brain meningiomas	88	Individuals who underwent removal of high-grade and low-grade gliomas specifically and significantly had an increased experience of spiritual transcendence

to uncover how the neurological effects of mindfulness meditation are correlated with subjective experience (Brown & Cordon, 2009; Collard, Avny, & Boniwell, 2008). Mindfulness research has often utilised participants from a traditional background of training, and hence research being reviewed in this article will include both modern and traditional frameworks of mindfulness. Potential confounds of this mix will be discussed.

4.1. fMRI, MRI, and Single Photon Emission Computed Tomography (SPECT)

Similar to studies of individuals who practice R/S, both frontal and prefrontal changes have been demonstrated in individuals who practice mindfulness meditation using fMRI, MRI, and SPECT/PET neuroimaging. Research has mainly indicated an increased engagement of frontal and prefrontal cortices in meditators compared to controls. These areas are implicated in executive control, including functions such as maintaining and directing attention (Kane & Engle, 2002; Mesulam, 1981). These changes are also concomitant with increased subcortical thickness of the right anterior insula, right middle and frontal superior sulci in meditators (Lazar, Kerr, Wasserman, et al., 2005). These areas are associated with sensory-motor processing, suggesting a greater interoceptive perception in individuals who practice mindfulness. Similarly, research has shown increased cortical thickness in the same areas, as well as increases in the thickness of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and anterior cingulate cortex (Hölzel et al., 2008).

The fMRI and MRI data aligns with SPECT and PET neuroimaging, which has indicated that mindfulness meditation results in increased frontal lobe blood flow. This points to increased autonomic control in meditators due to improved frontal modulation of subcortical emotional structures such as the amygdala, hypothalamus and limbic nuclei (Newberg et al., 2003). Blood flow increases were also found in the prefrontal cortex, inferior frontal and inferior parietal lobes. A strong inverse correlation between blood flow in the prefrontal cortex and the ipsilateral superior parietal was found. This change may indicate increased activity of the prefrontal lobe, resulting in increased parietal inhibition during mindfulness meditation.

These findings appear to be consistent across different types of mindfulness practices. Newberg, Pourdehnad, Alava, and d'Aquila's (2003) research comprised a SPECT analysis on Franciscan nuns during meditation, and Newberg et al.'s (2001) research showed that in a similar SPECT analysis, proficient Buddhist meditators displayed significant increases to their prefrontal cortex but decreased blood flow in their superior parietal lobe, compared to controls. This research falls into the overlapping category of mindfulness meditation within a spiritual framework. Therefore these neural changes are quite difficult to compartmentalise within either mindfulness-alone or spiritual-alone categories. These neurological changes therefore may be due to a process that happens during 'state' meditation or through the subjective experience of meditation itself.

4.2. EEG

Studies using EEG to examine the neural activity of individuals who practice mindfulness have found increases in theta and delta in the frontal lobe, as well as increased alpha, delta, and beta 1 levels in the posterior lobe while at rest (Ivanovski & Malhi, 2007). Similar results from both spiritually structured and secular meditation practices found that meditators displayed increased frontal lobe theta and increased posterior alpha power during meditation (Aftanas & Golocheikine, 2001; Lagopoulos et al., 2009).

One of the main clinical benefits of mindfulness meditation, such as modern mindfulness-based stress reduction (MBSR), is improved attention, reduced mind-wandering, and as a result, decreased stress (Grossman, Niemann, Schmidt, & Walach,

2004). These reductions have been attributed in part to a shift away from activation of the Default Mode Network (DMN). The DMN includes the medial prefrontal, posterior cingulate and inferior parietal cortices (Brewer et al., 2011; Greicius, Supekar, Menon, & Dougherty, 2009). Activation of the DMN has been associated with rumination, worry, depression and anxiety (Greicius et al., 2007; Hamilton et al., 2011; Zhao et al., 2007). Reduced DMN activity has been found to be potentially as a result of increased frontal midline theta (FMT) activity (Brewer et al., 2011; Ivanovski & Malhi, 2007; Taylor et al., 2012). Frontal midline theta increases have been a focus of research examining mindfulness meditation with EEG (Cahn & Polich, 2006).

Increases in FMT have been suggested to be generated via the anterior cingulate, medial prefrontal or dorsolateral prefrontal cortices (Asada, Fukuda, Tsunoda, Yamaguchi, & Tonoike, 1999; Ishii et al., 1999), and increased frontal midline theta has been suggested to be a result of increased prefrontal function (Ishii et al., 1999). Increased frontal midline theta activation has been shown to be a direct result of mindfulness meditation (Baerentsen, Hartvig, Stodkilde-Jorgensen, & Mammen, 2001; Cahn & Polich, 2006; Farb et al., 2007; Hölzel et al., 2011a, 2011b; Ivanovski & Malhi, 2007; Lazar et al., 2005; Newberg et al., 2001; Newberg et al., 2003).

While increased frontal midline theta has more often been associated with concentrative meditation (Aftanas & Golocheikine, 2002), comparisons between concentrative and mindfulness meditation practices have often shown mindfulness meditation to produce greater significant increase of frontal theta and increased alpha activity in central posterior regions, such as the inferior parietal region (Dunn, Hartigan, & Mikulas, 1999). This dual process of inhibition in posterior regions and increased activity of prefrontal and frontal regions appears to be specific to mindfulness meditation. Based upon the clinical outcomes reviewed above, mindfulness meditation would appear to be the most effective form of meditation to alleviate rumination and anxiety. Indeed state and trait prefrontal asymmetries (with associated positive affect) have been reported as a direct result of modern mindfulness training, as well as individuals with increased frontal midline theta showing to have significantly lower state and trait anxiety scores than controls (Davidson et al., 2003; Inanaga, 1998). Similarly, Tang and Posner (2009) found in their review that integrative body-mind training (IMBT – largely comprised of mindfulness-attention based training), led to increased frontal theta activity, and this increased frontal theta was correlated with decreased stress, anxiety, depression, anger, and fatigue. This evidence provides a strong neurological basis for concluding that modern mindfulness training's subjective outcome does indeed have a strong basis in the change occurring within the prefrontal cortex.

4.3. Self-referential processing within mindfulness

Self-referential processing refers to the subjective and executive monitoring, or meta-awareness, of the present state of sensory consciousness (Deikman, 1982; Varela, Thompson, & Rosch, 1991). An internal essence of mindfulness is to embody the notion that the notion of 'self' is an ever changing entity; and meditation seeks to dissolve the idea of a permanent, never changing 'self' (Olendzki, 2010). Self-referential processing has been shown through self-report (Kerr, Josyula, & Littenberg, 2011) and neurological measures to be altered via mindfulness meditation (Hölzel et al., 2011a, 2011b). Research has shown the engagement of the frontal-parietal network during self-referential processing as crucial to define between the self and the 'other' (Brewer, Garrison, & Whitfield-Gabrieli, 2013; Sajonz et al., 2010), as well as the specific importance to the prefrontal and parietal cortices in self-reference (Gusnard, Akbudak, Shulman, & Raichle, 2001; Northoff et al., 2006; Sajonz et al. 2010). Functional neurological change has been found to occur in these areas as a result of mindfulness based stress reduction training (Baerentsen et al., 2001; Farb et al., 2007; Hölzel et al., 2011a, 2011b).

Research provides further support for the posterior cingulate cortex (part of the inferior parietal) as central to the subjective feeling of being consumed by an experience, as opposed to being detached and mindful of the experience (Brewer et al., 2013). Therefore, it may be hypothesised that inhibition of the inferior parietal area within spiritual practice and meditation research may suppress this feeling of being consumed by increasing attentional focus on the present. Indeed, this will provide the subjective experience of being mindful of one's own experience. A lack of self-reference has been shown to be a crucial marker in disorders of the self, such as schizophrenia and hyper-reflexivity (Sass & Parnas, 2003). One of the benefits of mindfulness meditation may therefore be a more defined sense of 'self' and 'other'.

The different methodologies used to tease apart neurological changes from meditation is a factor that can lead to seemingly contradictory results across studies. For example PET and SPECT results (Newberg et al., 2001; Newberg et al., 2003) have indicated decreased parietal activity, while fMRI research indicates increased activity. However, as discussed previously, increased blood flow revealed with PET and SPECT analyses has been correlated with increased alpha wave activity (Bazanova & Vernon, 2014; Goldman et al., 2002), which represents decreased processing in that region (Larson et al., 1998). On the other hand, fMRI analyses indicating increased blood oxygenation have been correlated with decreased alpha activity in posterior regions (Laufs et al., 2003; Goldman et al., 2002). This mixed methodology makes streamlining of results in some brain regions during meditation particularly difficult to analyse.

Replicating these experiments with similar methods and heterogeneous cohorts of participants is required in order to uncover the functional relevance of changes to brain regions in meditators. The different attributes of the participants, combined with varying neurological methodology, have led to results that are consistent in some areas but remain unresolved in others. Mindfulness-based training appears to improve self-referential awareness, and this co-occurs with changes to fronto-parietal network. Due to the confounding factor of many mindfulness studies examining mindfulness interventions within various spiritual frameworks, it is difficult to tease apart how the subjective experience of connection of a higher

being influences the neural activation patterns and neuroplastic changes observed following mindfulness training and practice. Secular mindfulness-based training has been shown to produce prefrontal neurological changes associated with its subjective affect. However, how the absence of spirituality in the training affects the neurological alteration is yet to be elucidated.

To summarise, research has generally indicated that individuals who practice mindfulness meditation show significant differences in neural activity compared to individuals who do not. These changes consist of activation patterns, particularly within nodes in the fronto-parietal network. Further, fMRI and MRI research has correlated with EEG data to demonstrate changes in frontal midline theta after mindfulness based cognitive therapies and loving kindness meditation (Brewer et al., 2011; Cahn & Polich, 2006; Taylor et al., 2012).

However, evidence regarding the role of the parietal cortex during mindfulness meditation is inconsistent. Reasons for this inconsistency could be variation in the type of mindfulness meditation between studies or between participants used within a study. For example, Newberg et al. (2003), who found a decrease in blood flow in the parietal cortex, examined three experienced Franciscan nuns who used verbal meditation techniques (such as chanting) and SPECT analysis. Given the extremely low participant count in their study, further replication with a greater number of participants is required before any generalisations can be made. A review of the field by Hölzel et al. (2011a, 2011b), drawing on a wealth of studies and research, suggests that Lazar et al.'s (2000) results are the more consistent – during mindfulness meditation, an increase in inferior parietal cortex activity is found, when examining the relation to mindfulness' effect of self-reference.

As mentioned previously, evidence seems to suggest that self-reference is a balancing act within the fronto-parietal network in regard to the subjective experience of mindful detachment. Increases in activity in both cortices need to be looked as in conjunction with one another to get a full picture of their relationship. While parietal activation may appear to be occurring within one context, it may still be relatively less active than the individuals' prefrontal or frontal lobe. The outcome of prefrontal and parietal activity changes resulting from meditation, although beneficial to wellbeing, may be affected in different ways based upon the method used to achieve these subjective and neurological changes (for example whether a spiritual or secular model is used). Hence, future clinical applications will benefit from research which clearly has different cohorts of participants which have been separated based upon type of training received, to more clearly understand this cortical relationship (see Table 2).

5. Comparison between spiritual practice and mindfulness meditation

Despite the probable overlap in both process and outcomes, groups who practice spiritually but not mindfulness meditation, and groups who practice mindfulness without an R/S framework have never been directly compared in a single study to our knowledge. However, a number of studies of both mindfulness meditation and practicing R/S groups separately show overlapping neurological findings.

Firstly, as we might expect, mindfulness studies which revolve around an R/S framework show neurological changes that are generally similar to studies of individuals who practice R/S alone. For example, Johnstone et al. (2012) and Decety and Moriguchi (2007) observed an increase in frontal and prefrontal lobe activity in individuals who experienced transcendental spirituality and connection to higher self or being. Mindfulness meditation-focused studies also showed increases in prefrontal and frontal lobe activity (Farb et al., 2007; Hölzel et al., 2011a, 2011b; Ivanovski & Malhi, 2007). Across all studies looking at the three groups of R/S, meditation, or a combination of the two, consistent results are increased blood flow in the prefrontal and frontal lobes, increased cortical thickness in the prefrontal and frontal lobes, and communication between the prefrontal, frontal and parietal lobes. These changes are associated with resilience against mental disorder, greater interoceptive awareness, and reduction in symptoms of stress and anxiety (Cahn & Polich, 2006).

Secondly, the parietal cortex has been an area highlighted across all three types of studies. Meditation research has shown mixed results of increased activation of the parietal cortex, suppression, or in some cases, no difference during and after meditation (Aftanas & Golocheikine, 2001; Baerentsen et al., 2001; Dunn et al., 1999; Farb et al., 2007; Hölzel et al., 2011a, 2011b; Lagopoulos et al., 2009). R/S research however has mainly implicated the decrease or suppression in activity of the parietal cortex in practicing R/S individuals (Johnstone et al., 2012; Tenke et al., 2013; Urgesi et al., 2010). Some research in each area appears to overlap. Azari et al. (2001) for example shows that the fronto-parietal network in-fact displays increased blood flow in R/S individuals. This is in line with Hölzel et al.'s (2011a, 2011b) research. This evidence is in contrast with state changes, such as in Newberg et al.'s (2003) paper, which reports that Buddhist meditators display a decrease in parietal activity during meditation. One overlapping theme may be the role of the parietal cortex in self-referential processing. The parietal cortex has been heavily implicated in the ability to self-reference, with increased relative activity leading to greater definition between the 'self' and 'other' (Brewer et al., 2013; Lazar et al., 2000). In mindfulness meditation, the trait result in the parietal cortex is reflected with increases in relative activity, and in R/S practice, the parietal cortex has been found to decrease in relative activity.

As well as neurological activity differences between individuals who practice mindfulness and individuals who practice spiritually, it is important to examine the subjective participant beliefs in the meditation group of neuroimaging studies to see how these beliefs may affect the results. Studies that include participants who adhere to a spiritual framework may display neural activity which overlaps with research in R/S practice, and these are not shown in studies which include participants of a secular training. Therefore, we have a basis to develop future studies, which test hypotheses relating to the

Table 2Summary of neural changes as a result of mindfulness meditation.

Author	Neurological method	Participants background	Participant no.	Main findings
Lazar et al. (2005)	MRI	'Insight' Meditators – Western meditation practitioners	35	Increased relative cortical thickness of frontal, prefrontal, and insular cortex in meditators compared to controls
Hölzel et al. (2011a, 2011b)	MRI	Participants took an 8-week MBSR training programme	33	Increased grey matter concentration in the posterior cingulate, temporoparietal junction and cerebellum after the MBSR training
Farb et al. (2007)	fMRI, MRI	Participants took an 8-week MBSR programme, or were novice during testing	36	Participants who went through the MBSR training showed functional increase of prefrontal, insular and inferior parietal cortices
Baerentsen et al. (2001)	fMRI	Experienced meditators (7–23 years)	5	fMRI taken during onset of meditation. Significant activations of left lateral globus pallidus, right inferior parietal lobe and right precentral gyrus
Brewer et al. (2011)	fMRI	Experienced mindfulness meditators	26	DMN network (posterior cingulate and medial prefrontal cortex) less activated in meditators compared to controls
Taylor et al. (2012)	fMRI	Two groups. One of experienced (av. hours = 1709) and one group of beginner meditators	Experienced <i>n</i> = 12, Beginner <i>n</i> = 11	Functional connectivity between the medial prefrontal cortex and default mode network nodes was significantly weaker for experienced meditators than beginners; however some areas exhibited significantly stronger connections than beginner meditators
Aftanas & Golocheikine (2001)	EEG	Short (less than ½ a year exp.) and long term (3-7 years exp.) meditators	27	Increased theta power in long term meditators over anterior sites, as well as anterior alpha 1 & 2 synchronisation. Short term meditators displayed posterior alpha desynchronisation
Lagopoulos et al. (2009)	EEG	Experienced Acem (secular) Meditators	18	Increased theta activity in frontal and temporal areas. Increased alpha found in parietal and central regions
Dunn et al. (1999)	EEG	Students who underwent five weeks of concentrative and mindfulness meditation training (western)	10	Mindfulness meditation specifically showed to increase alpha amplitude over central and posterior cortices
Davidson et al. (2003)	EEG	Employees part of a biotechnology corporation who underwent MBSR training (8 weeks)	25	Significant state and trait anterior activation asymmetry (associated with positive affect and disposition) as a result of meditation training
Newberg et al. (2003)	Single-Positron Emission Computed Topography	Proficient Buddhist meditators during two sessions of meditation	8	During meditation, significant increases in blood flow to the prefrontal cortex were observed, as well as significant <i>decreases</i> to parietal areas

variable of spiritual experience within mindfulness practice. All research that has examined neural activity during meditation in participants who utilised meditation within a spiritual framework, such as Buddhism found significant changes to fronto-parietal network activity during meditation and prayer (Newberg, Alavi, Baime, Mozley, & d'Aquila, 1997; Newberg et al., 2003; Herzog et al., 1990). Similarly, research has found decreases in inferior parietal lobe activity in R/S-alone individuals (Decety & Moriguchi, 2007; Johnstone et al., 2012). In contrast, studies that examined secular mindfulness training have found that these individuals showed increases to fronto-parietal connections, and *increases* in activity in the inferior parietal lobe (Farb et al., 2007; Lazar et al., 2000; Lazar et al., 2005). This difference between the two groups may suggest that relative activity in the parietal lobe, in relation with fronto-parietal networks, is oppositely affected as a result of each framework.

Another point to note is that increases in alpha power in the parietal cortex have been noted in R/S populations (Tenke et al., 2013). This increase in alpha rhythm indicates a *suppression* of processing in this area (Goldman et al., 2002), thereby effectively showing a decrease in parietal activity in R/S individuals during rest. This has been mirrored in research that looked at meditation from an R/S framework that found similar neurological suppression within this population (Newberg, Pourdehnad, Alava, & d'Aquila, 2003; Newberg et al., 2001), indicated via decreased blood flow. Secular mindfulness meditation research has also indicated the inferior parietal cortex displays increased alpha amplitude in those who have undergone western mindfulness based training (Dunn et al., 1999; Lagopoulos et al., 2009).

6. Discussion

The literature identifies three groups within the context of mindfulness meditation and R/S when conducting neuropsychological research. Studies have examined groups that underwent secular mindfulness interventions which have their roots in Buddhist and traditional practice, but do not necessarily advocate the use of a spiritual framework (such as Mindfulness Based Stress Reduction and Mindfulness Based Cognitive Behaviour Therapy). Studies have also identified groups that are explicitly tied into spiritual experience during meditation, by using cohorts of Buddhist or spiritual meditators, and groups who practice R/S but do not practice meditation.

Within each group, the literature indicates improved resilience and well-being, both of which are tied to neurological changes in the prefrontal region and its connection to subcortical structures. However, all three groups display different results regarding the inferior parietal cortex, and the prefrontal and frontal connections to this region. All three groups show altered activity in this region, however across fMRI, MRI, SPECT and EEG studies, all seem to show slightly different variations on similar themes. This refers to the varied results between studies of R/S practice and mindfulness individuals which show state and trait increases and decreases to the parietal lobe and inferior parietal cortex. However, in terms of relative activation, all groups across neurophysiological measures display a general trend of prefrontal lobe change over parietal cortex change, leading to positive cognitive and emotional change.

We hypothesise that these changes reflect different changes to self-other processing in these groups, as a result of the subjective focus that the individual takes through practice. This hypothesis is derived from research that indicates the parietal cortex is related to self-referential processing (Brewer et al., 2013; Decety & Moriguchi, 2007; Sajonz et al., 2010). An initial implication of these results may be that different styles of meditation, whether secular or spiritual, or indeed spiritual practice, may either increase the executive focus on the self or increase the focus on a higher being, respectively, leading to increased parietal cortex function in the first case, and decreased in the second case.

A second pattern in the research regards the parietal cortex in relation to prefrontal and frontal cortical activity. It has been demonstrated that both these cortices are altered by both R/S practice and meditation separately and R/S experience and meditation together, hence it may be that the different meditation or spiritual process undertaken leads to differences in the relative activation of the prefrontal and parietal interaction. That may be as a detachment from automatic behavioural responses, or whether that is towards the 'self' or in relation to the 'other'. As the posterior cingulate cortex (inferior parietal) may be implicated in the experience of becoming mindful of one's own actions (Brewer et al., 2013), it would be reasonable to hypothesise that parietal function also changes when the individual does not feel consumed by the experience at hand but is able to take a 'step-back'. Hence, when relative prefrontal activity rises above parietal activity, this may lead to the experience of being mindful and outside of one's own experience, whether that be attributed to the focus on a higher being or energy, or whether it is attributed to one's own subjective movement. This relative prefrontal activity may rise as a result of increased parietal inhibition, or indeed a strengthening of the prefrontal cortex itself. Hence, while research may show in some cases that prefrontal and parietal activity increases, that parietal activity decreases, or that just prefrontal activity increases, they may all point to the same relational network. It is possible that it is an interaction between activation patterns in these areas, rather than merely activation of certain discrete areas, that underpins the subjective phenomena reported.

Further, the decrease in activity of the parietal lobe may reflect a loss of 'self' and a directed thought upon something outside of the self. In contrast, an increase in activity may be indicative of the focal awareness of one's self over anything external. This may also play into the relationship with the fronto-parietal network, and how modulation of this connection may affect activity in both cortices. The research that focuses upon the fronto-parietal network, and specifically frontal midline theta as a result of prefrontal activation, has also to be further expanded in the R/S field. Mindfulness research has been very fruitful in demonstrating the shift from the default mode network to an increase of frontal midline theta (leading to a quelling of rumination and anxiety in participants), and we feel that further research into the R/S field may benefit from

assessing these same measures. We hypothesise, from the research into R/S demonstrating increased prefrontal activation, that an increase in frontal midline theta would also be shown in R/S practice.

To elucidate which aspects of mindfulness and R/S practices are responsible for neural changes in individuals, future research should compare secular meditators (through mindfulness intervention programmes) and R/S meditators. The R/S populations show distinct functional changes, as do secular meditators and spiritual meditators, however, all groups also show overlapping patterns of results in some studies. All demonstrate qualities that are conducive to an improved quality of life through reductions in stress, anxiety, and increased compassion, and therefore examining how the different beliefs of each group interact neurologically to produce these subjective outcomes means that treatment options and understanding can be maximised. Further, while R/S populations appear to have a significant resilience against depression, some other associations with R/S practice as a clinically negative consequence have been researched, such as males' exhibiting a weak trend of increased risk for schizotypy and magical ideation (Diduca & Joseph, 1997; White, Joseph, & Neil, 1995). The role of R/S practice within neuronal inhibitory processes and cortical selective activation must therefore further be researched to highlight how exactly the R/S interplay is subjectively affecting meditational practice. In order to effectively answer this question, these three cohorts need to be structurally and functionally measured with the same techniques across each experiment to truly examine how they each neurologically compare between conditions.

If EEG, fMRI, MRI and PET measures are used in separate experiments, we suggest that there would be a large neurological overlap between populations that practice R/S and spiritual meditators, and spiritual meditators and secular meditators. We hypothesise that the most important differences between these groups will depend upon the degree of self-awareness (or 'selflessness') cultivated in each practice, which will be reflected by the parietal cortex in its rhythmic, functional and structural changes. Changes in the parietal cortex are also likely to alter the functional connectivity between the fronto-parietal network, and as such we suggest that future research examine functional connectivity through this network, as well as activity in each region alone. Research into the identification of 'self' and 'other' appear to intrinsically tie into the focal point and belief system of spiritual and secular meditation. Indeed the attribution towards what the individual believes they are connecting to may be implicitly tied to how the parietal cortex activates and changes.

Currently, there is no research to our knowledge that directly answers this question in relation to the variable of spiritual experience, and hence there is no clinical reference point into the neurological significance of the parietal and fronto-parietal region. It is necessary to compare each group with similar cortical measurements in a single study. This elucidation of neurological change between the frontal cortex, parietal cortex and fronto-parietal balance is crucial due to its basis in self-reference and its varying activation between different cohorts of participants in meditation and R/S research. Through this understanding, clinical practice could benefit in the maximisation of mindfulness meditation in its ability to instil compassion, empathy, decreased anxiety and decreased depression into those who practice it or use it for therapeutic gain. Research will be able to further capitalise upon this knowledge to inform clinical practice, and indeed improve clinical techniques used for treatment of mental health disorders.

7. Conclusions

R/S practice, secular meditation and spiritually-oriented meditation all hold potential to reduce symptoms of anxiety and depression, increase resilience and empathy, and improve well-being. Neurologically, all three groups show overlapping structural and functional changes located in the prefrontal and subcortical regions, but show inconclusive patterns of results from each other in the parietal cortex. We suggest that while all three groups display benefits in self-awareness and empathy, the difference in the R/S group is due to the subjective focal point of awareness, whether that be on the self or on an entity outside the self, and further how the individual places their sense of 'self' and 'other'. Research examining meditators who practice with a spiritual framework appear to support an idea that R/S experiences lead to decreases in parietal functionality. Further research comparing participants from all three groups, and using the same methodological techniques, will elucidate the true neurological overlap. This understanding of spiritual experience as a variable can then inform clinical practice to maximise the potential for recovery from mental illness and adverse life events. Focused work which has evidence of how spiritual or secular practices differently effect fronto-parietal networks (and associated sub cortices) can therefore be more predictive into how different forms of meditation can benefit an individual, and what subjective differences will occur. Different therapeutic measures such as EEG and fMRI can also therefore be interpreted more accurately into the neurological cause and effect of different forms of mindfulness meditation, and mixing results from different methodologies will form an increasingly coherent picture of associated neurological processes.

References

Aftanas, L. I., & Golocheikine, S. A. (2001). Human anterior and frontal midline theta and lower alpha reflect emotionally positive state and internalized attention: High-resolution EEG investigation of meditation. *Neuroscience Letters*, 310, 57–60.

Aftanas, L. I., & Golocheikine, S. A. (2002). Non-linear dynamic complexity of the human EEG during meditation. *Neuroscience Letters*, 330(2), 143–146. Aftanas, L. I., & Golocheikine, S. A. (2003). Changes in cortical activity in altered states of consciousness: The study of meditation by high-resolution EEG. *Human Physiology*, 29, 143–151.

Asada, H., Fukuda, Y., Tsunoda, S., Yamaguchi, M., & Tonoike, M. (1999). Frontal midline theta rhythms reflect alternative activation of prefrontal cortex and anterior cingulate cortex in humans. *Neuroscience Letters*, 274(1), 29–32.

Azari, N. P., Nickel, J., Wunderlich, G., Niedeggen, M., Hefter, H., Tellmann, L., et al (2001). Neural correlates of religious experience. European Journal of Neuroscience, 13, 1649–1652.

Baer, R. (2003). Mindfulness training as a clinical intervention: A conceptual and empirical view. Clinical Psychology in Science and Practise, 10, 125-143.

Baerentsen, K. B., Hartvig, N. V., Stodkilde-Jorgensen, H., & Mammen, J. (2001). Onset of meditation explored with fMRI. Neuroimage, 13(6), 297.

Bazanova, O. M., & Vernon, D. (2014). Interpreting EEG alpha activity. Neuroscience and Biobehavioural Reviews, 44, 94-110.

Berkovich-Ohana, A., Dor-Ziderman, Y., Glicksohn, J., & Goldstein, A. (2013). Alterations in the sense of time, space, and body in the mindfulness-trained brain: a neurophenomenologically-guided MEG study. Frontiers in psychology, 4.

Blakemore, S. J., & Frith, C. (2003). Self-awareness and action. Current Opinion in Neurobiology, 13(2), 219-224.

Bormann, J. E., Liu, L., Thorp, S. R., & Lang, A. J. (2012). Spiritual wellbeing mediates PTSD change in veterans with military-related PTSD. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 19(4), 496–502.

Brewer, J. A., Garrison, K. A., & Whitfield-Gabrieli, S. (2013). What about the 'self' is processing in the posterior cingulate cortex? *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 7(647), 1–7.

Brewer, J. A., Worhunsky, P. D., Gray, J. R., Tang, Y. Y., Weber, J., & Kober, H. (2011). Meditation experience is associated with differences in default mode network activity and connectivity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(50), 20254–20259.

Brown, K. W., & Cordon, S. (2009). Toward a phenomenology of mindfulness: Subjective experience and emotional correlates. In *Clinical handbook of mindfulness* (pp. 59–81). New York: Springer.

Brown, K. W., & Ryan, R. M. (2003). The benefits of being present: Mindfulness and its role in psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 84(4), 822.

Brozgold, A. Z., Borod, J. C., Martin, C. C., Pick, L. H., Alpert, M., & Welkowitz, J. (1998). Social functioning and emotional expression in neurological and psychiatric disorders. *Applied Neuropsychology*, 5, 15–23.

Cahn, B. R., & Polich, J. (2006). Meditation states and traits: EEG, ERP, and neuroimaging studies. Psychological Bulletin, 132(2), 180.

Carmody, J., Reed, G., Kristeller, J., & Merriam, P. (2008). Mindfulness, spirituality, and health-related symptoms. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 64(4), 393–403.

Clark, P. A., Drain, M., & Malone, M. P. (2003). Addressing patients' emotional and spiritual needs. *Joint Commission Journal on Quality and Patient Safety*, 29(12), 659–670.

Coakley, S. (2013). God, Sexuality, and the Self. Cambridge University Press.

Cohen, C., Jimenez, C., & Mittal, S. (2010). The role of religion in the well-being of older adults with schizophrenia. *Psychiatric Services*, 61(9), 917–922.

Collard, P., Avny, N., & Boniwell, I. (2008). Teaching mindfulness based cognitive therapy (MBCT) to students: The effects of MBCT on the levels of mindfulness and subjective well-being. Counselling Psychology Quarterly, 21(4), 323–336.

Cook, I. A., O'Hara, R., Uijtdehaage, S. H., Mandelkern, M., & Leuchter, A. F. (1998). Assessing the accuracy of topographic EEG mapping for determining the local brain function. *Electroencephalography in Clinical Neuroscience*, 107(6), 408–414.

Creswell, J. D., Welch, W. T., Taylor, S. E., Sherman, D. K., Gruenewald, T. L., & Mann, T. (2005). Affirmation of personal values buffers neuroendocrine and psychological stress responses. *Psychological Science*, 16(11), 846–851.

Davidson, R. J., Kabat-Zinn, J., Schumacher, J., Rosenkranz, M., Muller, D., Santorelli, S. F., et al (2003). Alterations in brain and immune function produced by mindfulness meditation. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 65(4), 564–570.

Decety, J., & Moriguchi, Y. (2007). The empathic brain and its dysfunction in psychiatric populations: Implications for intervention across different clinical conditions. *BioPsychoSocial Medicine*, 1, 22.

Deikman, A. J. (1982). The observing self: Mysticism and psychotherapy. Boston, MA: Beacon Press.

Devinsky, O. (2003). Religious experiences and epilepsy. Epilepsy and Behavior, 4(1), 76-77.

Diduca, D., & Joseph, S. (1997). Schizotypal traits and dimensions of religiosity. British Journal of Clinical Psychology, 36(4), 635-638.

Dunn, B. R., Hartigan, J. A., & Mikulas, W. L. (1999). Concentration and mindfulness meditations: Unique forms of consciousness? Applied Psychophysiology and Biofeedback, 24(3), 147–165.

Farb, N. A., Segal, Z. V., Mayberg, H., Bean, J., McKeon, D., Fatima, Z., et al (2007). Attending to the present: Mindfulness meditation reveals distinct neural modes of self-reference. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 2(4), 313–322.

Feinberg, T. E., & Keenan, J. P. (2005). The lost self: Pathologies of the brain and identity. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

Fredrickson, B. L., Cohn, M. A., Coffey, K. A., Pek, J., & Finkel, S. M. (2008). Open hearts build lives: Positive emotions, induced through loving-kindness meditation, build consequential personal resources. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 95(5), 1045.

Giovagnoli, A. R., da Silva, A. M., Federico, A., & Cornelio, F. (2009). On the personal facets of quality of life in chronic neurological disorders. *Behavioural Neurology*, 21(3–4), 155–163.

Goldman, R. I., Stern, J. M., Engel, J., Jr., & Cohen, M. S. (2002). Simultaneous EEG and fMRI of the alpha rhythm. NeuroReport, 13(18), 2487.

Greeson, J. M., Webber, D. M., Smoski, M. J., Brantley, J. G., Ekblad, A. G., Suarez, E. C., et al (2011). Changes in spirituality partly explain health-related quality of life outcomes after mindfulness-based stress reduction. *Journal of Behavioural Medicine*, 34(6), 508–518.

Greicius, M. D., Flores, B. H., Menon, V., Glover, G. H., Solvason, H. B., Kenna, H., et al (2007). Resting-state functional connectivity in major depression: Abnormally increased contributions from subgenual cingulate cortex and thalamus. *Biological Psychiatry*, 62(5), 429–437.

Greicius, M. D., Supekar, K., Menon, V., & Dougherty, R. F. (2009). Resting-state functional connectivity reflects structural connectivity in the default mode network. *Cerebral Cortex*, 19(1), 72–78.

Grossman, P., Niemann, L., Schmidt, S., & Walach, H. (2004). Mindfulness-based stress reduction and health benefits: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 57(1), 35–43.

Gusnard, D. A., Akbudak, E., Shulman, G. L., & Raichle, M. E. (2001). Medial prefrontal cortex and self-referential mental activity: Relation to a default mode of brain function. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 98, 4259–4264.

Hamilton, J. P., Furman, D. J., Chang, C., Thomason, M. E., Dennis, E., & Gotlib, I. H. (2011). Default-mode and task-positive network activity in major depressive disorder: Implications for adaptive and maladaptive rumination. *Biological Psychiatry*, 70(4), 327–333.

Herzog, H., Lele, V. R., Kuwert, T., Langen, K. J., Kops, E., & Feinendegen, L. E. (1990). Changed pattern of regional glucose metabolism during Yoga meditative relaxation. *Applied Neuropsychology*, 23, 182–187.

Hofmann, S. G., Sawyer, A. T., Witt, A. A., & Oh, D. (2010). The effect of mindfulness-based therapy on anxiety and depression: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 78(2), 169.

Hölzel, B. K., Carmody, J., Vangel, M., Congleton, C., Yerramsetti, S. M., Gard, T., et al (2011a). Mindfulness practice leads to increases in regional brain gray matter density. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging*, 191(1), 36–43.

Hölzel, B. K., Lazar, S. W., Gard, T., Schuman-Olivier, Z., Vago, D. R., & Ott, U. (2011b). How does mindfulness meditation work? Proposing mechanisms of

Holzel, B. K., Lazar, S. W., Gard, T., Schuman-Olivier, Z., Vago, D. R., & Ott, U. (2011b). How does mindfulness meditation work? Proposing mechanisms of action from a conceptual and neural perspective. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 6(6), 537–559.

Hölzel, B. K., Ott, U., Gard, T., Hempel, H., Weygandt, M., Morgen, K., et al (2008). Investigation of mindfulness meditation practitioners with voxel-based morphometry. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 3(1), 55–61.

Inanaga, K. (1998). Frontal midline theta rhythm and mental activity. Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences, 52(6), 555-566.

Ishii, R., Shinosaki, K., Ukai, S., Inouye, T., Ishihara, T., Yoshimine, T., et al (1999). Medial prefrontal cortex generates frontal midline theta rhythm. NeuroReport, 10(4), 675–679.

Ivanovski, B., & Malhi, G. (2007). The psychological and neurophysiological concomitants of mindfulness forms of meditation. *Acta Neuropsychiatrica*, 19, 76–91.

Jackson, P. L., & Decety, J. (2004). Motor cognition: A new paradigm to study self-other interactions. Current Opinion in Neurobiology, 14(2), 259–263.

Jha, A. P., Krompinger, J., & Baime, M. J. (2007). Mindfulness training modifies subsystems of attention. Cognitive, Affective, and Behavioral Neuroscience, 7(2), 109–119.

Johnstone, B., Bodling, A., Cohen, D., Christ, S. E., & Wegrzyn, A. (2012). Right parietal lobe-related "Selflessness" as the neuropsychological basis of spiritual transcendence. *International Journal for the Psychology of Religion*, 22(4), 267–284.

Jung, C. G. (1966). Psychology and religion. Yale University Press.

Kabat-Zinn, J. (1982). An outpatient program in behavioral medicine for chronic pain patients based on the practice of mindfulness meditation: Theoretical considerations and preliminary results. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 4(1), 33–47.

Kabat-Zinn, J., & Burney, R. (1981). The clinical use of awareness meditation in the self-regulation of chronic pain. Pain, 11, S273.

Kane, M. J., & Engle, R. W. (2002). The role of prefrontal cortex in working-memory capacity, executive attention, and general fluid intelligence: An individual-differences perspective. *Psychonomic Bulletin and Review*, 9(4), 637–671.

Keenan, J. P., Nelson, A., O'Connor, M., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2001). Self-recognition and the right hemisphere. Nature, 409(6818), 305.

Kelley, B. S., & Miller, L. (2007). Life satisfaction and spirituality in adolescents. Research in the Social Scientific Study of Religion, 18, 233-261.

Kerr, C. E., Josyula, K., & Littenberg, R. (2011). Developing an observing attitude: An analysis of meditation diaries in an MBSR clinical trial. Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, 18, 80–93.

Kirschfeld, K. (2005). The physical basis of alpha waves in the electroencephalogram and the origin of the 'Berger effect'. *Biological Cybernetics*, 38, 72036. Lagopoulos, J., Xu, J., Rasmussen, I., Vik, A., Malhi, G. S., Eliassen, C. F., et al (2009). Increased theta and alpha EEG activity during non-directive meditation. *The Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, 15(11), 1187–1192.

Lang, A. J. (2013). What mindfulness brings to psychotherapy for anxiety and depression. Depression and Anxiety, 30(5), 409-412.

Larson, C. L., Davidson, R. J., Abercrombie, H. C., Ward, R. T., Schaefer, S. M., Jackson, D. C., et al (1998). Relations between PET-derived measures of thalamic glucose metabolism and EEG alpha power. *Psychophysiology*, 35, 162–169.

Laufs, H., Kleinschmidt, A., Beyerle, A., Eger, E., Salek-Haddadi, A., Preibisch, C., et al (2003). EEG-correlated fMRI of human alpha activity. *Neuroimage*, 19(4), 1463–1476.

Lazar, S., Bush, G., Gollub, R. L., Fricchione, G. L., Khalsa, G., & Benson, H. (2000). Functional brain mapping of the relaxation response and meditation. NeuroReport, 11(7), 1581–1585.

Lazar, S. W., Kerr, C. E., Wasserman, R. H., et al (2005). Meditation experience is associated with increased cortical thickness. *NeuroReport*, 16, 1893–1897. Leigh, J., Bowen, S., & Marlatt, G. A. (2005). Spirituality, mindfulness and substance abuse. *Addictive Behaviors*, 30(7), 1335–1341.

Lutz, A., Greischar, L. L., Rawlings, N. B., Ricard, M., & Davidson, R. J. (2004). Long-term meditators self-induce high amplitude gamma synchrony during mental practise. Proceedings of the National academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 101, 16369–16373.

Marlatt, G. A., Witkiewitz, K., Dillworth, T. M., Bowen, S. W., Parks, G. A., Macpherson, L. M., et al (2004). Vipassana meditation as a treatment for alcohol and drug use disorders. *Mindfulness and Acceptance: Expanding the Cognitive-Behavioral Tradition*, 261–287.

McCullough, M. E., & Willoughby, B. L. (2009). Religion, self-regulation, and self-control: Associations, explanations, and implications. *Psychological Bulletin*, 135(1), 69.

McNamara, P., & Butler, P. M. (2013). The neuropsychology of religious experience. Handbook of the Psychology of Religion and Spirituality, 215.

McNamara, P., Sosis, R., & Wildman, W. J. (2011). Announcing a new journal: Religion, brain and behavior. Religion, Brain and Behavior, 1(1), 1-4.

Mesulam, M. (1981). A cortical network for directed attention and unilateral neglect. Annals of Neurology, 10(4), 309-325.

Mesulam, M. (2000). Behavioral neuroanatomy. In M.-M. Mesulam (Ed.), *Principles of behavioral and cognitive neurology* (2nd ed.) New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

Miller, L., Bansal, R., Wickramaratne, P., Hao, X., Tenke, C. E., Weissman, M. M., et al (2014). Neuroanatomical correlates of religiosity and spirituality: A study in adults at high and low familial risk for depression. JAMA Psychiatry, 71(2), 128–135.

Newberg, A. B., Alavi, A., Baime, M., Mozley, P. D., & d'Aquila, E. G. (1997). The measurement of cerebral blood flow during the complex cognitive task of mediation using HMPAO-SPECT imaging. *Journal of Nuclear Medicine*, 38, 95.

Newberg, A., Alavi, A., Baime, M., Pourdehnad, M., Santanna, J., & d'Aquili, E. (2001). The measurement of regional cerebral blood flow during the complex cognitive task of meditation: A preliminary SPECT study. Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging, 106(2), 113–122.

Newberg, A. B., & d'Aquila, E. G. (1998). The neuropsychology of spiritual experience. In H. Koenig (Ed.), Handbook of religion and mental health (pp. 75–94). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.

Newberg, A., Pourdehnad, M., Alava, A., & d'Aquila, E. G. (2003). Cerebral blood flow during meditative prayer: Preliminary findings and methodological issues. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 97, 625–630.

Northoff, G., Heinzel, A., de Greck, M., Bermpohl, F., Dobrowolny, H., & Panksepp, J. (2006). Self-referential processing in our brain: A meta-analysis of imaging studies on the self. *NeuroImage*, 31, 440–457.

Olendzki, A. (2010). Unlimiting mind: The radically experiential psychology of Buddhism. Somerville, MA: Wisdom Publications.

Palmer, M. (2003). Freud and Jung on religion. Routledge.

Rizzolatti, G., & Craighero, L. (2004). The mirror-neuron system. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 27, 169-192.

Sajonz, B., Kahnt, T., Marguiles, D. S., Park, S. Q., Wittmann, A., Stoy, M., et al (2010). Delineating self-referential processing from episodic memory retrieval: Common and dissociable networks. *Neuroimage*, 50(4), 1606–1617.

Sasaki, J., Kim, H., & Xu, J. (2011). Religion and well-being: The moderating role of culture and the oxytocin receptor (OXTR) gene. Cross-Cultural Psychology, 42(8), 1394–1405.

Sass, L. A., & Parnas, J. (2003). Schizophrenia, consciousness, and the self. Schizophrenia Bulletin, 29(3), 427-444.

Sayadaw, M. (1972). Practical insight meditation. Santa Cruz, CA: Unity Press.

Seeman, T. E., Dubin, L. F., & Seeman, M. (2003). Religiosity/Spirituality and health: A critical review of the evidence for biological pathways. *American Psychologist*, 58(1), 53–63.

Seybold, K. S. (2007). Physiological mechanisms involved in religiosity/spirituality and health. Journal of Behavioral Medicine, 30, 303-309.

Shapiro, S. L., & Walsh, R. (2003). An analysis of recent meditation research and suggestions for future directions. *The Humanistic Psychologist*, 31(2–3), 86–114.

Smith, B. W., Ortiz, J. A., Steffen, L. E., Tooley, E. M., Wiggins, K. T., Yeater, E. A., et al (2011). Mindfulness is associated with fewer PTSD symptoms, depressive symptoms, physical symptoms, and alcohol problems in urban firefighters. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 79(5), 613.

Tacey, D. J. (1997). Remaking men: Jung, spirituality and social change. Psychology Press.

Tang, Y. Y., & Posner, M. I. (2009). Attention training and attention state training. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 13(5), 222–227.

Taylor, V. A., Daneault, V., Grant, J., Scavone, G., Breton, E., Roffe-Vidal, S., et al (2012). Impact of meditation training on the default mode network during a restful state. Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience, 87.

Tenke, C. E., Kayser, J., Miller, L., Warner, V., Wickramartne, P., Weissman, M. M., et al (2013). Neuronal generators of posterior EEG alpha reflect individual differences in prioritising personal spirituality. *Biological Psychology*, *94*, 426–432.

Urgesi, C., Aglioti, S. M., Skrap, M., & Fabbro, F. (2010). The spiritual brain: Selective cortical lesions modulate human self-transcendence. *Neuron*, 65(3), 309–319.

Valentine, E., & Sweet, L. (1999). Meditation and attention: A comparison of the effects of concentrative and mindfulness meditation on sustained attention. *Mental Health, Religion and Culture, 2*(1), 59–70.

Varela, F. J., Thompson, E., & Rosch, E. (1991). The embodied mind. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Weick, K. E., & Sutcliffe, K. M. (2006). Mindfulness and the quality of organizational attention. Organization Science, 17(4), 514-524.

Weinstein, N., Brown, K. W., & Ryan, R. M. (2009). A multi-method examination of the effects of mindfulness on stress attribution, coping, and emotional well-being. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 43(3), 374–385.

White, J., Joseph, S., & Neil, A. (1995). Religiosity, psychoticism, and schizotypal traits. Personality and Individual Differences, 19(6), 847-851.

Williams, J., Teasdale, J., Segal, Z., & Soulsby, J. (2000). Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy reduces overgeneral auto-biographical memory in formerly

depressed patients. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 109, 150–155.

Ying, Y. (2009). Religiosity, spirituality, mindfulness, and mental health in social work students. *Critical Social Work*, 10(1), 97–114.

Zhao, X. H., Wang, P. J., Li, C. B., Hu, Z. H., Xi, Q., Wu, W. Y., et al (2007). Altered default mode network activity in patient with anxiety disorders: An fMRI study. *European Journal of Radiology*, 63(3), 373–378.